TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No. PSR-19-42 TO-021	2. Government Accession No. N/A	3. Recipient's Catalog No. N/A
4. Title and Subtitle Assessing the Impact of Equity Work in Transportation		5. Report Date September 2021
		6. Performing Organization Code N/A
7. Author(s) Sarah Rebolloso McCullough, Ph.D., https://orcid.org./0000-0003-2101-8931 Sequoia Erasmus, MS		8. Performing Organization Report No. UCD-ITS-RR-21-76
9. Performing Organization Name and Address University of California, Davis		10. Work Unit No. N/A
Institute of Transportation Studies 1605 Tilia Street, Suite 100 Davis, CA 95616		11. Contract or Grant No. Caltrans 65A0674 Task Order 021 USDOT Grant 69A3551747109
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address California Department of Transportation Division of Research, Innovation and System Information, MS-83		13. Type of Report and Period Covered Final Report (November 2019 – March 2021)
1727 30th Street, 3rd Floor, Sacramento, CA U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research	14. Sponsoring Agency Code USDOT OST-R Caltrans DRISI	
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE, Washington, DC 20590		Calt

15. Supplementary Notes

DOI: https://doi.org/10.7922/G2154FBQ

16. Abstract

This report assesses equity work within transportation in California by analyzing the expert perspectives of transportation professionals who also identify as Black or people of color. 28 professionals from across the state were interviewed. Many interviewees work on transportation equity as part of their central job function. Interviews were transcribed and coded for major themes. Key findings centered around a key distinction between "performative" equity work and "authentic" equity work. Performative equity work privileges the comfort and perspective of dominant groups, reinforces status quo, stays in the realm of rhetoric, and often results in superficial changes only. Authentic equity work centers the experience of Black people and people of color, embraces discomfort, transforms dominant culture, and results in measurable changes to the lives of those historically oppressed. Key recommendations include supporting action-oriented equity work, especially around resource allocation and redistribution of decision-making power to communities. The report includes case studies of how to apply findings to new mobilities and policing, as well as visions for more equitable transportation futures.

	•		
17. Key Words	18. Distribution Statement		
Equity, inclusion, diversity, workplace climate	No restrictions. Readers can freely refer to and distribute this report. If		
	there are any questions, please contact one of the authors.		
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassified	41	Free for E-copy

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized



DISCLAIMER STATEMENT

This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the State of California or the Federal Highway Administration. This publication does not constitute a standard, specification or regulation. This report does not constitute an endorsement by the Department of any product described herein.

For individuals with sensory disabilities, this document is available in alternate formats. For information, call (916) 654-8899, TTY 711, or write to California Department of Transportation, Division of Research, Innovation and System Information, MS-83, P.O. Box 942873, Sacramento, CA 94273-0001.

Assessing the Impact of Equity Work in Transportation

September 2021

A Research Report from the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center

Sarah Rebolloso McCullough, PhD, Feminist Research Institute, University of California, Davis

Sequoia Erasmus, MS, California Transportation Commission





TABLE OF CONTENTS

About the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center	5
U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) and California Department of Transportation (CALTRANS) Disclaimer	5
Disclosure	5
Acknowledgements	6
Abstract	7
Executive Summary	8
Introduction	10
Land and history acknowledgement	10
Context of report	10
Researching Equity in Times of COVID-19 and Police Violence	12
Initial response to the pandemic	12
Impact of uprisings for Black lives	13
Establishing a "new normal"	13
From Performative to Authentic Equity Work	15
Defining Equity	15
Performative Equity Work	15
Authentic Equity Work	16
From Defensiveness to Collective Support	18
From Tokenism in Hiring to Dignity in Retention	20
From Checklists to Nuanced Engagement	23
Equity Case Studies	27
New Mobilities	27
Policing	29
Future vision	31
People-Centric Systems	31
Align with other movements	32
Hiring within communities	32
New research needed	33



Keterences	34
Data Management Plan	39
Annendix A: Interview Scrint	40



About the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center

The Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center (UTC) is the Region 9 University Transportation Center funded under the US Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. Established in 2016, the Pacific Southwest Region UTC (PSR) is led by the University of Southern California and includes seven partners: Long Beach State University; University of California, Davis; University of California, Irvine; University of California, Los Angeles; University of Hawaii; Northern Arizona University; Pima Community College.

The Pacific Southwest Region UTC conducts an integrated, multidisciplinary program of research, education and technology transfer aimed at *improving the mobility of people and goods throughout the region*. Our program is organized around four themes: 1) technology to address transportation problems and improve mobility; 2) improving mobility for vulnerable populations; 3) Improving resilience and protecting the environment; and 4) managing mobility in high growth areas.

U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) and California Department of Transportation (CALTRANS) Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the United States Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government and the State of California assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof. Nor does the content necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. Government and the State of California. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. This report does not constitute an endorsement by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) of any product described herein.

Disclosure

Principal Investigator, Dr. Sarah Rebolloso McCullough, and Sequoia Erasmus conducted this research titled, "Assessing the Impact of Equity Work in California," at the University of California, Davis, Feminist Research Institute. The research took place from November 2019 to March 2021, and was funded by a grant from the California Department of Transportation in the amount of \$98,810.00, and from the U.S. Department of Transportation in the amount of \$2,355.00. The research was conducted as part of the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center research program.



Acknowledgements

This study was funded by a grant from the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center (PSR), supported by USDOT through the University Transportation Centers program. The authors would like to thank the PSR and USDOT for their support of university-based research in transportation, and especially for the funding provided in support of this project. The authors are grateful to all the professionals they interviewed who devoted their time and expertise to this project in a moment of crisis. Thanks also goes to The Untokening, a multi-racial collective dedicated to mobility justice, who originally inspired this project. The Mobility Justice Research Network provided intellectual inspiration and camaraderie. The Feminist Research Institute at UC Davis provided in-kind support. Thanks to Cort Brinkerhoff at the PSR, Frank Law at Caltrans, and Susan Handy at the National Center for Sustainable Transportation for keeping this project on track.



Abstract

This report assesses equity work within transportation in California by analyzing the expert perspectives of transportation professionals who also identify as Black or people of color. 28 professionals from across the state were interviewed. Many interviewees worked on transportation equity as part of their central job function. Interviews were transcribed and coded for major themes. Key findings centered around a key distinction between "performative" equity work and "authentic" equity work. Performative equity work privileges the comfort and perspective of dominant groups, reinforces status quo, stays in the realm of rhetoric, and often results in superficial changes only. Authentic equity work centers the experience of Black people and people of color, embraces discomfort, transforms dominant culture, and results in measurable changes to the lives of those historically oppressed. Key recommendations include supporting action-oriented equity work, especially around resource allocation and redistribution of decision-making power to communities. The report includes case studies of how to apply findings to new mobilities and policing, as well as visions for more equitable transportation futures.



Assessing the Impact of Equity Work in Transportation

Executive Summary

The goal of this report is to assess the status of transportation equity work in California by seeking the expert perspectives of transportation professionals who also identify as Black, Indigenous, or people of color. We recruited 28 interviewees through transportation planning professional networks and referrals. Of those interviewed, 36% identify as Latinx, 21% identify as Black, 14% identify as Asian or Pacific Islander, 25% identify as mixed race, and 3% identify as Middle Eastern. Interviewees were asked questions about their career trajectory and their understanding of equity within transportation with specific questions on new mobilities. With the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic and uprisings after the murder of George Floyd, we adjusted the script to ask about the impact of these phenomena on transportation equity work.

Participants spoke of the need to create a consensus around a definition of equity. Without a clear, shared definition, they noted that it was difficult for organizations to do meaningful equity work. Participants offered definitions of equity that included a redistribution of resources and decision-making power to historically disinvested communities. They saw the goal of equity to be achieving parity between residents of disinvested community and privileged communities. Overall, they sought a transportation system that asserts dignity for people's humanity as a core value. They saw this definition of equity as foundational to informing goals and actions that are targeted, transparent, and measurable.

A lack of clarity around equity definition and goals can lead to a phenomenon known as "performative equity work." Performative equity work describes practices that reinforce root systems of dominance and status quo, while claiming to promote inclusion. Characteristics of performative equity work on the individual level include defensiveness and an unwillingness to be uncomfortable. In the workplace, this can manifest as tokenism, which places an emphasis on hiring diverse applicants without considering what changes must take place in the organization to create a good working environment. Many professionals shared experiences of having their professional expertise disregarded because it upset assumptions and norms among their colleagues or leadership. They critiqued situations when equity was downscaled to only mean "outreach" to communities or added as a last-minute consideration, something often called "retrofitting." They found organizations are often under-investing in equity and failing to diversify leadership roles.

They wished to see more "authentic" equity work. On the individual level, they wished to see greater transparency and honesty about past and ongoing discriminatory practices in the field and in society. While this may lead to uncomfortable conversations, they hoped that the result could be collective support toward improving transportation and working conditions. They wished to see workplaces put more effort into retention of their BPOC employees. This could be done by create an organizational culture that amplifies the voices of BPOC professionals



rather than tacitly or overtly silencing them. They wished for their colleagues to understand identity as intersectional and complex. Most of all, they wished to work in organizations that fundamentally respected the dignity of their BPOC employees. Finally, they wished to see transportation organizations recognize that equity work would be a long-term engagement, and let their agendas be guided by equity goals. Doing so would produce equity efforts that are both well-resourced and community-led with diverse leadership.

Examinations of micromobilities and policing offer case studies in how transportation work can be rethought from an authentic equity lens. In both cases, developing stronger relationships with communities offers innovative solutions to transportation challenges. Closing future visions offer ideas for how to create transportation systems that are people-centric. They offer suggestions for how transportation organizations can work in alignment with other fields struggling to account for historic injustices such as housing, environmental justice, and labor. The report concludes with suggestions for new research areas to explore.



Introduction

Land and history acknowledgement

The state of California is home to nearly 40 million people speaking over 200 different languages and with roots from around the globe. California is also the ancestral home of indigenous peoples, including 110 recognized tribes and 81 groups seeking recognition. The movement of colonizers from Spain, other European nations, and then the newly formed United States wiped out many of the native people by disease, war, and enslavement. This violence, driven by the desire for land and resources, was facilitated by systems of transportation. Networks of roads connected cities and eventually the transcontinental railroad connected California with the Eastern coast, embodying the spirit of Manifest Destiny that destroyed indigenous communities and exploited laborers such as Chinese migrants who built the railroad. Along the rail corridor, land values rose. In the post-World-War II era, transportation systems contributed to racial segregation and the disempowerment of lowincome communities and communities of color (1). Highways built to service suburban housing for predominantly white populations were built over or through historically Black and Latino communities in many cities (2-4). These injuries were exacerbated by redlining, which kept Black and Brown communities in separate, often more exposed, geographic areas (5). More recently, these same communities are undergoing gentrification and displacement as city centers become popular again. This frequently results in longtime residents finding themselves pushed out just as their neighborhoods are enjoying infrastructural improvements (6–8). And finally, technology-based new mobilities, a potentially revolutionary shift toward sustainability, need to be more strongly connected to community-derived solutions, equity, and racial justice (9, 10). These historical and researched realities are the context for this report. They ground an understanding of California's transportation networks as rooted in systems of oppression, racial injustice, extractive capitalism, and white supremacy.

Context of report

The goal of this report is to assess the status of transportation equity work in California by seeking the expert perspectives of transportation professionals who also identify as Black, Indigenous, or people of color. We recruited 28 interviewees through transportation planning professional networks and referrals. Respondents were recruited through listservs for transportation professionals, state agencies such as Caltrans, and through referrals. Of those interviewed, 36% identify as Latinx, 21% identify as Black, 14% identify as Asian or Pacific Islander, 25% identify as mixed race, and 3% identify as Middle Eastern. While we strived to recruit Indigenous planners into the study, we were not successful. Thus, throughout the study we will refer to planners who identify as Black or people of color (BPOC). This is not meant to be exclusionary of the indigenous community, but to acknowledge the limitation of the study. Regarding gender, 64% identify as female, 25% identify as male, and 11% identify as non-binary. Those interviewed skewed young, with 85% of interviewees being under 40. 42% of



those surveyed work in advocacy, 25% in policy, 25% in government or planning, and 7% in research or education.

This study is based on the presumption that the life experiences of being Black, Indigenous or a Person of Color (BIPOC) combined with expertise as transportation professionals gives them a unique and highly valuable lens through which to assess what aspects of equity work are most impactful and where shortcomings exist. This theory draws upon a long and rich history of critical race theory and feminist research that describes a sort of "double vision" that is necessary to survive living in oppressive social conditions due to racism and sexism (11, 12). When one's life experience challenges traditional assumptions, particularly when those experiences arise from suffering from the impacts of bias and oppression, a person can become more attuned to their operation in others and oneself. In keeping with this insight, this study values the framework of mobility justice forwarded by the Untokening Collective and articulated in the Principles of Mobility Justice (13). Mobility justice envisions a world where Black communities, communities of color, people with disabilities, immigrants, trans people, queer people, women, and youth can move freely and without fear of violence. In the workplace, mobility justice strives for working environments where professionals can contribute from their full knowledge and experience without fear of retribution. In communities, mobility justice visions that longtime residents can afford to stay in place as their community receives long-overdue infrastructural improvements, and communities are equal partners in creating infrastructural changes. This study also draws insight from the fields of disability justice and design justice (14, 15), which highlight the importance of attending to how design processes and systems unequally distribute risks, harms, and benefits, and call for more participatory processes in decision-making that integrate community-based traditions, knowledges, and practices (15).

Interviewees were asked questions about their career trajectory, their understanding of equity within transportation with specific questions on new mobilities. With the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic and uprisings after the murder of George Floyd, we adjusted the script to ask about the impact of these phenomena on transportation equity work. Interviews lasted from 1-2 hours. They were recorded, transcribed, and coded based on a mix of pre-established and emerging themes. Their answers were then contextualized within existing literature on transportation equity, which is reflected in the themes and findings described in this report.



Researching Equity in Times of COVID-19 and Police Violence

During this research project, two major events occurred: the COVID-19 pandemic and the murder of George Floyd. The latter, along with numerous other deaths of Black people at the hands of law enforcement, led to mass protests and demands for systemic change. COVID-19 and movements against police violence have produced a moment of reckoning for many, which changed the context of this study. In a sense, we were assessing equity efforts at the same time as the nation was assessing equity. This has resulted in an elevated focus on racial, economic, and environmental justice, including in transportation planning and policy spaces. In California, organizations seeking to embrace equity, diversity, and inclusion are beginning to understand that there must also be a shift towards recognizing the role of racial justice within these efforts. These events had a major impact on transportation systems, workplace dynamics, and how the transportation field approaches equity. The interviews captured three major stages in the changing work environment: (1) initial response to the pandemic, (2) impact of racial uprisings, and (3) establishing a "new normal."

Initial response to the pandemic

Interviews for this project, which began in late March 2020, captured the moment that large-scale work from home orders shifted many workers to remote participation. Priorities pivoted in funding, job functions, project timelines, and program priorities. Early on, interviewees expressed understanding that existing inequities would be exacerbated by the global pandemic, a prediction that has been borne out (16–22). One interviewee stated: "...the pandemic is pointing out that people who had...low-level social determinants of health... access to clinics, access to good water, access to good food, are the ones who are disproportionately being killed by the virus...we're talking about black folks... indigenous folks and immigrants..."

In response, advocates found ways to remotely support policy initiatives, direct service requests, and mutual aid for communities they serve. Many of the interviewees in this study found themselves focused on supporting access to basic community needs including cash, food, and housing. Engagement became more complicated, as limitations on in-person gatherings made traditional models impossible. One respondent reflected on their experience engaging with their community through Zoom: "The process itself of having our community meetings... has been a total shift... Definitely relying a lot more on calling and texting. Some of us are more successful than others at Zoom meetings because some communities ... have a lot easier access and are familiar with it." Monique Lopez, Founder of Pueblo Planning, reflected on how their organization is responding to the shift brought on by the pandemic: "Even though a lot of things have shifted in terms of being able to physically be in space, our ethos hasn't shifted. Our ethos is still to engage those individuals and do it in a way that is in partnership with organizations that have already developed those relationships with those individuals."



Impact of uprisings for Black lives

As spring turned in to early summer, tensions exploded when the murders of several Black individuals were publicly displayed to an increasingly polarized nation. Protests in response to the murders of George Floyd, Ahmaud Arbery, Breonna Taylor, and too many others sparked a national emergency and a moment of deep reckoning with the dangers of systematically entrenched white supremacist policies. The uprisings of the summer of 2020, coupled with the devastating effects of the global pandemic and unprecedented statewide devastation caused by wildfires, resulted in a renewed sense of urgency in support of Black lives and marginalized peoples. Again, this research project pivoted to capture how the work of its participants to uplift equity and justice was being thrust into the national spotlight. Some faced an inability to continue working in a space that was becoming increasingly hostile, while others were finally being recognized and sought out for their expertise in developing these policies and programs. The pace of work quickened, even as the emotional toll of equity work increased.

Municipal and state transportation agencies throughout California published commitments in support of equity and diversity, and many called for the acknowledgement of past and current harms caused by policies and infrastructure projects. Participants in this project recognize and appreciate many of these public displays of support. At the same time, they wondered how much transportation and other sectors will retain this commitment. As one participant said:

The urgency around some issues has changed, the ability to connect with residents has totally changed, and then the conversations about racial justice, which we were having obviously before this year and before George Floyd, are all of a sudden something that people seem to care about and something that agencies at the state seem to care about. Before George Floyd was murdered, I don't think that I heard anybody at the State talk about Black Lives Matter, white supremacy, or say the name of a black man who got murdered by the police or a trans woman or anybody. It was like, "What?" On the one hand I'm like, "Okay, great. This is great." And on the other hand, I'm like, "I don't trust you."

This quotation expresses the sentiment expressed by many BPOC professionals. While they appreciate the field's growing awareness of equity's importance, they worry that this will be a trend that is dropped when solutions do not come easily.

Establishing a "new normal"

Several interviewees detailed how smaller, more dynamic teams with expertise in equity and community engagement were needed within their organizations and institutions. Cities and counties throughout California began to adopt transportation planning policies, like parklets and car-free streets, that had been kept out of mainstream programs. These programs require dynamic, nimble coordination, which our BPOC interviewees are well versed in. One interviewee reflected that "... [COVID] has literally forced us to work together because all this has thrown our job descriptions up in the air." Several interviewees offered critiques of reactive



program implementation, showing how hastily enacted solutions can result in the exacerbation of inequities within the communities they are supposed to serve. Various participants shared that their work as equity champions within their organizations prepared them to not only offer more useful ways to design and implement Covid-19 safe transportation plans, but to also assess them from an equity perspective.



From Performative to Authentic Equity Work

Defining Equity

Particularly in the aftermath of 2020, transportation agencies are increasingly dedicating time and resources to hiring equity experts, including many who took part in this study. While this is a necessary first step, organizational structures or policies often become barriers to further movement. This can lead to a dynamic where equity is "performed" but meaningful action remains undone. This is often called "performative equity." Performative equity refers to actions, words, or gestures that claim to do equity work, but in practice do not improve matters for those historically oppressed. Authentic equity work stands in contrast to performative equity work. Participants often described authentic equity work as demonstrably improving the living conditions of historically oppressed communities. They repeatedly spoke of the following key goals when defining equity.

- 1. Redistribution of resources to the most under-invested and historically disinvested communities
- 2. Redistribution of decision-making power to the most under-invested and historically disinvested communities
- 3. Achieving parity in transportation access for the most under-invested and historically disinvested communities
- 4. Assertion of dignity for people's humanity as a core value.

These goals can inform actions that are targeted, transparent, and measurable. They point toward the need for change not just in rhetoric, but also policy and practice. Equity as defined by research participants requires systemic change and individual reflection at a deep level. This is well-illustrated by the contrast between performative equity work versus authentic equity work. Solutions require clearly defining the terms, scope, and vision for equity work. When there is not agreement about what constitutes good equity work, it can be hard to make meaningful progress. Thus, it is helpful to differentiate between performative work, which tends to degrade the humanity of those who have borne the brunt of oppressive systems, and authentic work, which elevates dignity for all people's humanity.

Performative Equity Work

Performative equity work describes practices that reinforce root systems of dominance and status quo, while claiming to promote inclusion. This is a known phenomenon within scholarship on equity, diversity, and inclusion (23, 24). Sara Ahmed describes this phenomenon in depth in her book, On Being Included: Racism and Diversity in Institutional Life (25). Performative equity work is not necessarily intentional or malicious on the part of those engaging in the performance. In fact, many times it results from good intentions that are not fully informed or reflective. Nonetheless, the impacts of performative equity work can be devastating and impede more authentic work.



As one participant said,

There's the constant threat of equity washing, of people having these grand equity commitments but not having a process by which to execute their equity commitments. Not having accountability to meeting those equity goals, not having equity expertise...equity washing is something that we have labeled as one of the biggest issues that we're facing as a collective because it gives people the feeling of, yeah we're doing it. We hired so and so or we have this equity program but without doing the deeper work of looking inward. What are our practices like? Why are people leaving so often? Why can't we retain anyone? So, I think it's just going to take a lot more work on all of our ends to figure out how to walk the talk on equity.

Performative allyship, a related term, can be detrimental to the process of creating safe environments where individual and organizational growth may occur. Erskine and Bilimoria show how performative allyship occurs when "well-meaning people with power and privilege show interest in becoming an ally but do not engage in the ongoing emotional labor, self-reflection, continuous education, courage, commitment, and exchange of power inherent in true allyship". Performative allies may leverage their privilege to engage in "empty activism" with the purpose of gaining social capital or validation, without fully understanding the depth and breadth of the issue (26, 27). Furthermore, performative allyship and inclusion refuses to sacrifice "personal or professional capital to challenge or transform systems that they benefit from, even unwittingly" (28). Spanierman and Smith add that these efforts may be received as "cosmetic, superficial, and transitory, rather than as facilitating structural change" (29). Performative allyship can result in repeating or creating new systems of oppression. Power as performance can contribute to further isolation and hopelessness for individuals or teams tasked with promoting equity.

Authentic Equity Work

Authentic equity work results in meaningful change to those most impacted by historical racism and oppression. The practice of authentic equitable planning and policy development requires a commitment to a long process of individual, interpersonal, cultural, and organizational reframing. Destiny Thomas, founder of Thrivance Institute, reminds practitioners that these processes "must be developed through a sustained examination of each of these institution's historic and ongoing racist legacies" (30). Valuing transportation equity requires considering culture and history when building new infrastructure or integrating new mobility technologies. Transportation agencies and practitioners can consider how they can atone for past harms done by their institution and profession. This is part of fostering dignity and humanizing "users." The following quote from an interviewee highlights the harmful effects of transportation policies when history and culture are not taken into consideration.

People's histories are infused with how they've been mistreated by government and this was the time for government to actually own up to it. And so, I say that with tears because it's the lived experience of our communities that don't get elevated in



conversations about billions and billions of dollars to do what? Right? And oftentimes transportation planning is very... It's acultural, or whatever. I don't even know what to call it. You are numbers, you are auto throughput, you are cars on the road, you are not a person with identity and history and culture.

Equity initiatives, when intertwined with a justice-based framework, strive to interrogate how past harms continue to affect people living within the communities they are designed to serve. By gaining this important historical context, these initiatives can then begin to seek to repair past harms by centering the experiences of those who have been historically marginalized when seeking future solutions.

An important aspect of authentic equity work is to think intersectionally. Legal scholar Kimberlé Crenshaw coined the term intersectionality to describe the unique form of discrimination faced by Black women that is different than that experienced by "women" (for which the default was white women) and Black people (which defaulted as men) (31). Key to this approach is paying attention to how power operates across difference, and how discrimination is both overlapping and unique. Black feminist scholar Patricia Hill Collins describe how we live within a "matrix of domination" that requires us to think about power across three different levels: the personal/interpersonal level, the cultural/community level, and the institutional/ideological level (32). These work together to shape assumption and norms that can code bias and discrimination. One participant gave an example of this by discussing how they saw people using concerns around public safety to "hide their literal disgust with people who aren't housed." They argued that this concern acted to obfuscate racial discrimination. They went on to say, "If you were to replace the word unhoused with something else like a racial identifier, it would not be acceptable. But people see just houseless people as an acceptable way to get their opinions out." This points out how it's not enough to just focus on race, or gender, or class. All must be considered as important to maintaining the dignity of those who deserve to be served by transportation systems.



Table 1. Performative Equity versus Authentic Equity

Matrix of Domination Levels	Performative Equity	Authentic equity
	FromDefensiveness	ToCollective Support
Individual to	Guilt	Honesty
Interpersonal	Comfort	Discomfort
	Emotional isolation	Collective support
	FromTokenism	ToDignity
Interpersonal to Cultural	Hiring	Retention
	Voice disregarded	Voice amplified
	Identity as reductionistic	Identity as intersectional
	Position with no power	Dignity-Infused workplace
Cultural to Institutional	FromChecklist Approach	ToLong-Term Engagement
	Retrofitting or downscaling	Equity-led agendas
	equity	
	Under-investment	Fully resourced
	White-led	Community-led

Table 1 describes the differences between performative equity work and authentic equity work that emerged in this study. These differentials are mapped in relationship to Patricia Hill Collins' Matrix of Domination, which demonstrates the necessity of equity interventions across various levels, from the individual to the interpersonal, to the cultural, to the institutional. These movements from performative to authentic equity work are described in detail in the following sections.

From Defensiveness to Collective Support

From Guilt to Honesty

On the individual level, research participants experienced colleagues reacting defensively in discussions of equity. This phenomenon is often referred to as white guilt or white fragility (33). Ethnic studies scholar George Lipsitz attributes this to a "possessive investment in whiteness." This describes the attachment many have to whiteness because of the structured advantages it provides--the unearned rewards and privileges that are experienced as a loss in the call to equity (34).

One participant shared, "I don't know that anything ever fully prepares you for the racism and fragility of white people." They went on to say,

I believe that everyone who does transportation work is a good person. You don't get into this to make the big bucks, right? I literally think people who are in this industry do it because they want to help people and because they care and because they're



passionate because they want to do the right thing...But then I think because people are so well meaning and are such good people and are so deeply rooted to that image of themselves, there's something particularly sensitive about them in this space that when you... It's not even push them. When you say, "Oh, really...," it is really tough for them.

By "Oh really..." they refer to challenges or critiques that in areas other than race are accepted or even expected as part of the professional workplace. However, when it came to issues of race, they experienced a sensitivity that shut down conversations. White professionals often experience situations where racism is pointed out as attacks, often attacks to their identity. This reaction can force an oppositional relationship, unless the person who raised the challenge (usually a BPOC professional) finds a way to assuage the white person's feeling of hurt. Thus, the critique gets sidelined and the person who raised it becomes responsible for maintaining the peace, which ultimately also maintains the status quo.

As one participant put it, "I think that equity is transparent and honest...it starts with a transparent and honest reflection of where we've been as a field." This means looking at the complicity of transportation in perpetuating systemic racism at the individual, interpersonal, and institutional levels (32). Further, it requires change at all levels of the matrix of domination. Knowing the histories of discrimination in planning, both nationally and locally, is highly recommended. In an informal poll of transportation researchers and professionals conducted by the author at a virtual professional conference, only 27% of 72 attendees reported knowing "a lot" about their local history of transportation and planning inequity (redlining, highway construction, etc.). Learning and reflecting on the ongoing impacts of these histories can better equip transportation planners to have honest and difficult conversations. Open curiosity and reflection on one's own behavior can also create a mindset more receptive to critique. Cultivating this "learner's mindset" sets the stage for honesty and transparency, a precondition for change.

From Comfort to Discomfort

Discussion of equity is a difficult process, which many participants acknowledged. They noted that the process will be uncomfortable and require rethinking assumptions and standard practices. As one professional consultant said, "This is going to get hard, and we're going to want to quit. People might get offended, but we're going to keep coming back...Sometimes being successful is not the same thing as being perfect." When leadership take this attitude and embrace change, even when it is uncomfortable, they can make more space for BPOC professionals and community participation.

One way to address this is through affinity groups that allow white professionals to engage in the interpersonal work needed to address institutional racism. As one participant put it, "Unless you have a really nuanced understanding of racial equity, and yourself and your identity, you're not going to be able to implement that strategy with the fidelity to anti-racism like you should...It's all good when you can say that oh, it's institutional racism, it's nothing about me. But when you get to kind of the interpersonal stuff, people are like, "Whoa, I don't know. I'm a



nice person."" However, part of maintaining dignity for professionals and community members as whole people is acknowledging and working on one's limitations, including the ways that one may be complicit in ongoing acts of racism, even if unintentional. When this is accepted, one can make the changes necessary to engage in anti-racism work.

From Emotional Isolation to Collective Support

Many spoke of the mental and emotional stressors of the work. Some of this arose from the ongoing performative commitment to equity they felt from their workplace, as described above. Interviewees called for transportation agencies and organizations to do the internal work of creating a more equitable work environment. As one participant shared, "There's no reason in trying to go advocate to help out our communities...if we're not looking at our own racial dynamics." To do any authentic work with communities, this is crucial.

Many interviewees spoke of the emotional costs wrought upon BPOC by legacies and systems of oppression. These are wide-ranging, from intergenerational trauma and resilience borne from systems of racism to norms that are centered on whiteness to everyday acts of discrimination and microaggressions. Many professionals spoke of the toll of this emotional labor—from code-switching, to educating others, to attending to other's feelings at their own expense. Some wished that leadership would recognize this burden as part of the work they did and provide support. Adding to their emotional and mental burden is the fact that they may be doing this at the same time as they are hearing and witnessing impacts of transportation violence and transportation-related state-sanctioned violence (such as police shootings and ICE raids) within the communities they serve.

Efforts that assist with these challenges include but are not limited to the creation of affinity groups, elevating the voices of BPOC staff, and giving these staff more power and leadership. Good allyship may mean noticing the input and reactions of BPOC colleagues. One interviewee noted, "We'll have a tough meeting and then she'll text me afterwards and be like, "Hey, I noticed you didn't say a lot during that meeting. Am I missing something? Because your voice is the one I want to hear." This type of act, along with calling out interruptions or negation of someone's comments can all be helpful.

From Tokenism in Hiring to Dignity in Retention

Many participants spoke to the issue of retention within transportation planning, policy, and advocacy. They acknowledged and were pleased with greater efforts to recruit and hire a diverse workforce and grow staffing investments in diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives. However, they felt that institutions were not grappling with the changes and considerations needed to retain these talented staff. One participant put it this way:

Another thing that I'm seeing now in a lot of these Department of Transportation and transit agencies is they're hiring folks of color, which is awesome, but they are not creating the conditions nor the power-making authority to actually create a change that moves towards equity and social justice. So, what ends up happening now is you put this



person there, and they get bombarded with the community getting frustrated that they can't make that decision, but the reality is they weren't actually given any real power. They're just a stand-in, so I think there's a lot to be said around the research about the racial dynamics within these organizations and the need to solve it.

The needed workplace cultural shift is best described as one moving from tokenism to dignity. Tokenism is a complex and well-researched phenomenon, which many research participants experienced in their work lives (13, 35–37). Isolation, underinvestment, and a lack of institutional buy in can make it difficult for equity practitioners to incorporate strategies or policies.

"We want your brown body, but not your ideas"

A tokenistic work environment invites Black professionals and professionals of color into the conversation but rejects ideas that do not accord with the status quo (38). One person experienced the dynamic of tokenism as such: "Yes, it's a good initiative until it hurts my reality, and then I'm not going to listen." Other professionals felt that while their work was held up as important by the organization, they themselves were treated badly by their employer. This led some to quit and begin work as consultants. One person who followed this path shared, "The organization had no problem touting me as their equity planner and holding me and my work up as an example of how they were making advances in the realm of equity, but treating me very poorly. So they brought me in and had a really difficult conversation with me and basically said either stop talking so much or leave. So I chose to leave."

"Speak for your people"

Tokenism also reduces the complexity of difference and oppression. One research participant shared how they felt they were supposed to be "representing a vague non-group, a faceless group that is not connected to [the agency] in a way." This is the phenomenon of one Black person or person of color being asked to represent all people "like them." Others felt that they were asked to represent constituents that they could not ethically represent. Or, they felt that they were being asked to weigh in on matters that they could not speak to. This comes from a reductionistic approach to equity—that one person doing equity work or from a historically oppressed community can speak for all others. Such an attitude denies the importance of intersectionality. One participant noted that as a person from a working middle class background, they cannot represent all low-income folks. They may represent organizations who represent low-income members, but that is a key distinction. Another participant often found themselves asked questions in matters that others were more expert in. For example, they were asked to weigh in on matters that were better addressed by an environmental justice expert. Speaking to the person most expert is crucial for quality equity work, especially when the outcome may impact funding, policy, or programming. In this sense, some participants felt transportation could learn from other fields such as public health, environmental justice, and housing.



Position with No Power

A tokenistic attitude can result in under-staffing as equity is siloed within the organization. This often occurs when there is not widespread buy-in for equity work. In a moment when equity work is trending, one professional worried,

I am concerned that as a band-aid, many of them will simply throw up a single position or hire a single individual, give them the responsibility of being responsible for making equity happen but not giving them any of the real decision making power or giving them access to the appropriate resources to actually manifest anything into reality and then a few years down the road, they all throw up their hands and say, Well, shoot, we can't figure this out, this whole equity thing, it doesn't make sense. So we're just not going to deal with it.

Relatedly, others described the stress of constantly having to educate others about equity and the importance of community-based planning. This was particularly harrowing if they were having to convince those above them in the organizational hierarchy. Sometimes equity professionals felt that they were being tasked to do work that they structurally could not do because they were not granted the decision-making power or leverage to realize the institution's stated goals. Thus, their job became mainly one of talking about equity and convincing others, rather than taking meaningful action.

A Dignity-Infused Workplace

The challenge of tokenism has been so pervasive than the planners of a gathering of active transportation professionals who identify as Black, Indigenous, or as people of color (BIPOC) or who work in these communities named the event "The Untokening." In this space, professionals experienced a level of dignity not felt in their daily work lives. This emphasis on dignity has been cultivated by the Thrivance Group, an organization working at the intersection of planning and transformative justice and People for Mobility Justice (39, 40). Thrivance Group's Dignity-Infused Community Engagement and Planning (DICE) trainings offers bi-annual trainings to professionals interested in anti-racist praxis, robust community engagement, and justice-oriented practices. People for Mobility Justice, a grassroots organization in Los Angeles, offers a vision for transportation futures embedded in the "Five D's:" decolonize, decongest, decriminalize, dignify, and determination (40).

As one research participant put it, "Equity includes dignity. This means not having to explain or make anyone privy to my trauma in order to qualify for equity." Numerous participants pointed out how trauma, inflicted through everyday interactions and through major life events, should be a consideration in equity work. Doing so is crucial to respecting the dignity of people. It can be harmful when BIPOC individuals or communities are asked or forced to explain or perform their trauma to receive aid or attention. This reinforces a deficit model that imagines these communities as lacking, rather than attending to how they have built strength even in the face of disinvestment and oppression (41, 42). At the same time, the impacts of trauma must be taken into account.



A participant who did extensive work with youth related how important it was that they learned how to work with young folks who had high rates of trauma. They learned that many of the youth they worked with were going through, "really heavy stuff...and we found a way to have the bikes be that therapy for them." This shows how some professionals we interviewed saw transportation and the re-creation of built environment as part of a healing process. Authentic equity work can lead to healing, when all those involved are regarded with dignity (43).

From Checklists to Nuanced Engagement

Regarding the relationship between transportation planning and historically disinvested communities, participants experienced performative equity as demands for a checklist. That is, some felt that they were asked for prescription to cure inequity, as if histories of oppression were a simple problem to solve, and that all the answers were already predetermined. This was felt as a desire to quickly "solve" equity so that their colleagues could get on with the things they really cared about rather than acknowledging the need for a deep engagement with the long-term work needed. One participant defined performative allyship this way: "the approach to it is, "Tell me what we need to do, and I'll do it tomorrow and then I can wipe my hands and say, I did it."" Rather, those we interviewed pointed out that the work will be difficult and painful. Many spoke of how initial enthusiasm for equity work faded when it upset people's ideas. This rejection of real change was repeatedly listed as a challenge.

Equity requires a redistribution in who gets funded, more flexibility in how funds can be spent, and expanded opportunities for programmatic and "human infrastructure" (44). They noted that redistribution of funds is often met with resistance, even by those who say they support equity work. As one professional put it, "The moment you actually talk to people about what this would look like, I think there's a little bit of, "Oh, I didn't think you meant that far." Maybe we don't need to do 100% equity. Maybe we do 50% equity, because...I'm not willing to sacrifice what I want to give you what you deserve." This often comes up in the NIMBY-ism of affordable housing. In transportation, one practitioner saw this in the form of broader community resistance to prioritizing paving projects in historically disinvested communities. They saw an attitude of, "I like the idea of repaving streets and low-income communities, but I still want mine to be repaved as well, understanding that there's a limited amount of funds. I still want the council to pay special attention to these issues, but why aren't they answering my phone calls as well? Why aren't they answering my emails as well?" The potential sacrifice that more privileged communities may have to make was not often accounted for.

Authentic solutions arise from ongoing community engagement with those communities who have been most neglected and residents who are most vulnerable. Creating and maintaining continuous relationships with historically neglected communities is a complex and resource-intensive process (45, 46). And yet, it is requisite for equity work that addresses past injustices and creates more just futures.



From Retrofitting Equity to Equity-Led Agendas

Common performative gestures at the institutional level are retrofitting equity and downscaling equity efforts to just "outreach." These can effectively undermine equity by setting them up for failure before they even get started. As one participant put it, "There's still a ghettoization of diversity, equity and inclusion into outreach. And so people think if they can check an outreach box then they've done it. Then I think the second most common thing is that it's trying to be retrofitted. And so it's like, "We've already done this whole project, but we realized equity is a concern. Can we bring you in to tell us what you think after the fact that after all the decisions are made and you can't really impact much?"

One group in the Central Valley creates equity-led agendas at monthly meetings with community members. Their process works with residents to: "envision the community that residents want to live in. And then we work to get that vision represented and plans and policies. And then we organize and advocate to get the plans and policies implemented so that residents can benefit from the time that they spend sharing their feedback." While interviewees had much more to say about the need for quality community engagement, another recent study by the author provides guidelines for best practices in community engagement (45).

From Under-invested to Fully Resourced

As one participant noted, "People always underestimate time and resources needed to do things in an equitable way." This sub-par investment in equity allows an institution to say they tried and defer blame for the failure onto others.

Authentic equity work requires a significant change from status quo and a transfer of funding, time, resources, and energy. They require professionals and leaders to rescind power to communities very different from them, which is a complex process that requires recognizing differential expertise. These are the expertise of everyday lived reality that know the challenges of a place intimately. These are expertise that see innovative solutions that are often not recognized as such. They are expertise that adhere to alternative logics and value systems, that while different, are no less valid that those which traditionally dominate in transportation planning.

Accounting for histories of inequity requires investment. Another aspect of authentic equity work that surfaced in interviews was directing resources to historically under-invested communities that centers longtime community members and allows them to stay in the community. Residents of these communities continue to live with the legacies of disinvestment such as poor air quality, roads in disrepair, poor transit access, lack of updated infrastructure, etc. This directly impacts their daily lives and can limit access to jobs, healthcare, educational opportunities, commerce, and green spaces. One participant shares, "We're actually giving them access to greater resources to bring them to a level of parity with the rest of the



community." The Transformative Climate Communities program run by the Strategic Growth Council is one project that was cited repeatedly as a model for this form of investment (47).

Flexibility in how funds can be used was reiterated by many. They noted that grants often come with restrictions that prevent them from addressing community needs and engaging in community-drive solutions. Oftentimes, funders dictate what money can be used for rather than consulting with the community about where investments are most needed. While these restrictions may be based in best practices and research, they are not taking into account the needs of disinvested communities. Central to the need for flexibility is the need for more community control and a redistribution of power (48–50). As one professional who worked for a funding agency put it, "It's an outsider going in and telling people, "Hey, I have this money, but you have to do this with it." It's another power imbalance, right? Because I have this money. You might need it, and you have to do this with it." She related a story of how funding for increasing safety in a community could only fund infrastructure. This was not helpful for the community, because what they needed was peer patrolling. "That's what's going to get people out and walking. It's not closeness and connectivity to the park, it's like, our block is not safe. This is what we need the money for. But the money is limiting, and we're not allowed to do that." Fortunately, she was able to work with them to find another way to fund a peer patrolling program, which yielded the desired results. "We saw violent crime and nonviolent crime go significantly down. So you were seeing more people coming out. You were seeing more people." This example demonstrates that many communities know the solutions to the challenges they face—they need access to the resources to realize the solutions. The flexibility to spend funds not just on built infrastructure, but also on expertise, programming, and "human infrastructure" is needed (38).

From White-Led to Community-Led

As collective conversations within organizations shift to brainstorming ways to commit to systemic change, a recognition of the lack of racial diversity within organizational leadership and boards is a consistent challenge within transportation planning and policy (51). One participant, representing an advocacy organization, recognized that "our board has been historically wealthier, whiter", and that in order to support Black lives and racial justice initiatives, they needed to "adjust and compensate." "A truly equitable transportation system," added another participant, "would not only with different in the street, it would look different in the boardroom." Numerous participants noted the homogeneity of board rooms, commissions, and other decision-making bodies. One participant said, "Many of the people are older, able-bodied, straight white men. And so maybe the bigger problem there is just that the people that we're theoretically all serving are not the people leading those decisions."

Participants pointed out the importance of shifting power imbalances. While this takes many forms, one key intervention stated repeatedly was to increase the level of accountability to communities. This can look like conducting more rigorous community engagement that is led by community members as equal partners. It is bringing the process to those most impacted on



their terms and giving agency to them. It can also extend to letting the community define what the goals are in the first place. For example, one participant described this as "having the freedom to define what health and thriving is for you and your family."

The following quote from an interviewee demonstrates how equitable processes involve not just inclusion, but a redistribution of power:

Equity is being invited to the process or the process coming to you, but also there being a real sense of agency attached to your voice, not performative inclusion... I think equity, really equity in this field is going to have to mean intentionally removing power from where it is within transportation field and redistributing it or re-creating it collectively.



Equity Case Studies

What follows is two timely case studies that demonstrate how organizations and individuals can move from performative equity work to authentic equity work. The case studies examine new mobilities and policing. New mobilities addresses key equity issues emerging around micromobilities (bike share and scooter share) and new modes of automobility (shared, automation, and electrification). Policing engages in issues of race and state-sanctioned violence in transportation and mobility systems. Embedded in both is attention to the relationship between equity and community engagement (45).

New Mobilities

Conversations and rollout of new mobilities such as micromobilities (bike share and scooter share) and new modes of automobility (shared, automation, and electrification) offer a case study for considering the challenges raised when equity is "retrofitted" (52) These new technologies are created to address perceived challenges and generate new market opportunities. They also have the capacity to address equity issues. To address equity in an authentic way, the concerns of the most impacted and vulnerable populations must be wellintegrated. As one well-respected expert in the field shared, "Any new technology can address equity in our cities. It just depends if the people driving it and the people who are decision makers care about equity and do what they can to make that possible." They noted how when equity concerns are raised about new technology, infrastructure, or policy, proponents often avoid addressing these concerns by implying that equity advocates are "against" the new innovation. Participants cited examples of this happening in conversations around Vision Zero, micromobilities, and (during COVID) open streets (53–55). In each case, when concerns were raised about impacts on historically neglected and under-resourced communities, some thought leaders in transportation framed these challenges as impediments to progress, rather than valid points that needed to be addressed. What equity advocates would like to see—at minimum—is more engagement about the rollout of these new innovations (56, 57). They are concerned about how local communities are impacted, effects on those with disabilities, industry's tendency to "sidestep government and jurisdictions" and "prioritizing people who have credit cards." One interviewee shared this story about a bike share rollout in their neighborhood:

...what we saw was people being frustrated and being like, 'yeah, I'm a storefront owner here for the last 20 years, and one day, I came to my shop, and it (bike share station) just was in front, and I didn't know.' It's like, 'Whoa, they did a terrible job outreaching. The people who have a station in front of their own storefront didn't even know.' That's a terrible sense of disempowerment.

This level of disconnect could have potentially been reduced by improving lines of communication between the sponsoring agency and the shop owner. The process of this project turned what could have been a potentially beneficial project into an instance of



decisions made outside of the community impacting those within the community, without their consent or voice.

Another, more specific issue raised around micromobilities is the influence of industry on transportation agencies. Research participants were concerned that this could lead to a consumer-based model of equity. In this model, equity is reduced to the equal opportunity to desire and use a product. This way of thinking is not based in community need or speaking to their concerns. One participant shared,

Our public agencies are buying what the industry is selling and then trying to figure out why poor people aren't using the products that they've decided should be publicly available...I think that defining equity as marketing to communities of color, that a totally inequitable and unsustainable industry creates things and then [puts] them all over public space. They strong arms public agencies into setting up contracts for them and then says, "Why aren't poor people using our things? How can we make scooters a first last mile solution for these marginalized communities?"

This is a more specific example of how equity is seen as a retrofit, and in this case predetermined to only speak to issues of equal use for a product already deemed to be in the public's best interest without consulting with relevant publics.

These experiences led many interviewees to experience distrust in new projects that did not include equity experts and community input from the earliest stage. Many experienced a need for strong equity advocacy, sometimes in the face of opposition. Even when successful results were achieved, they remained skeptical. "I don't think without intervention, new technologies can provide for equity. I think there has to be a very strong framework, intention and regulation of these enterprises to accommodate what's necessary for making these equitable modes." They went on to describe how when a bike share program was introduced to their city, there was a major push from community groups to make it accessible via reduced fee subscriptions. Once these were implemented, the success of the project grew.

Equity issues get more complicated in conversations around automated or electric passenger vehicles (10, 57, 58). Shifting from a bike share to owning their own bike is accessible to many people. Bike share can be a stepping stone toward private ownership, which can grant individuals more autonomy and control if they choose. This is not so easily done with vehicles. As one participant pointed out, "So it doesn't shift the mode, it just shifts the fact that now they're having to own a bike versus use the Bikeshare. But with other new mobility, I mean, who's going to be able to own their own automated vehicles? Very fluid folks."

Many participants noted how conversations about new mobilities risked abandoning public transit—the backbone of transportation for many marginalized communities, including through the pandemic (59). As one transportation professional shared, "After three years of researching new mobility, autonomous vehicles, the equity impacts and policy responses, I think our main take away is that in urban areas, public transit has to be the core." One transportation advocate



shared how focusing resources on current transit riders, who tended to be from low-income communities, grew transit use in a time when transit use was declining in most other cities. This was made possible through an explicit shift in policy from attempting to build ridership in communities not known to use transit (such as suburban enclaves) towards better accommodating existing users.

Policing

Interviewees discussed policing strategies and tactics as one of the highest priority areas in need of transformation. Transportation and policing is a crucial equity issue. The protests of the summer of 2020 brought increased awareness to streets as sites of injustice and inequity (60). Communities desire solutions beyond policing and acknowledge that increased policing and surveillance create unsafe conditions for marginalized groups including Black, Indigenous, and People of Color, women, trans and gender non-conforming people, and poor and undocumented individuals. Interviews supported research revealing that policing within transportation networks disproportionately targets BIPOC individuals, resulting in higher levels of arrests and police violence (61–68). Emphasizing enforcement to create safer streets has been thought to make streets safer (for some), though recent research reveals that traffic enforcement may have no impact on crashes (69). In this context, current standard policing practices bear re-examination, especially given a preponderance of qualitative evidence that increased police presence leads to decreased safety for Black communities, Indigenous people, and communities of color. Charles Brown calls this phenomenon "Arrested Mobility," highlighting how many people from the Black community are apprehended, accosted, injured, or killed simply for moving about public space (61). Research shows that Black, Indigenous and communities of color receive more citations and fines within transportation networks, which can be disastrous for poor and working class families living paycheck to paycheck (66, 67, 70).

Transportation equity practitioners are pushing the boundaries of the function and form of police and surveillance, stressing a need to emphasize safety as a core focus:

... the police don't stop traffic crimes from happening...the infrastructure that we have in place can deter people from driving too fast. Everyone in [City] has really started to talk about what safety means for houseless people, and do we need police officers to keep us safe? Who are the ones that are keeping us safe? And if it is the police officers that keep us safe, why haven't they kept us safe since now then? Because there's crime increasing all the time, so are they really are keeping us safe?

Data challenging the efficacy of police to increase public safety confirms the lived experience of many Black people and communities of color, while often unsettling unquestioned beliefs of upper and middle-class white communities. Disconnects between professionals of color and



their white counterparts can make strategy implementation difficult. Reflecting on policing within transportation networks, one interviewee said:

A lot of times transportation programs use community policing or policing as a way to enforce safe driving...to keep walkers and bikers safe. But in communities of color, people don't feel safe when police are around...You really have to target what you're doing and think about the people that you're impacting. People that aren't of color just have a really hard time doing that, and so when it comes time for implementing something, they don't get the nuance of what actually is healthy or safe...All those words are very subjective, and everybody has their own lens on that, and it's hard for people to think outside of the box when it comes to other populations.

Transportation professionals have the opportunity to decouple safety and policing. Doing so opens up space for impacted communities to decide for themselves what safety can and should look like.

Community-based solutions that value existing safety networks offer innovative solutions. Examples of this can include revising police budgets to pay for support service providers and professionals trained in de-escalation practices to monitor networks instead of police or security professionals. One interviewee described this dynamic well when they spoke of working from community solutions to safety rather than relying on traditional policing models to ensure safety. They shared, "They weren't trying to say, "let's increase police presence." No, it was like, let's increase our own presence and police ourselves. Just our presence alone will deter people from acting a fool." This speaks to the importance of including community-based solutions that diverge from traditional practices. This is an area where quality community engagement is vital. Over-policed communities who experience high levels of crime and violence have innovative ideas to address the roots of the problem by including the voices of those who know the challenges firsthand. As one interviewee shared, "I think that in an ideal world, the transit, this new mobility system includes technical and decision-making staff that are from and represent and look like and think like the communities that they're impacting. I think there are no police there. I think there are no police. And I think there are resource navigators...social workers." Interviewees also spoke to the need to decriminalize poverty. For example, one tangible solution that addresses the criminalization of poverty is to lower or eliminate transit fares. These sort of change-oriented proposals bear greater consideration and analysis.



Future vision

As the final part of the interview, participants were asked to envision an equitable and just transportation system. The individuals interviewed for this project are professionals and experts in the field, and their personal and professional insights into future visions for transportation systems represents dynamic and profound understanding. Much of their vision aligned with calls seen in other areas of transportation. They wanted to see walkable communities where people are not forced to drive, greater use of transit and trains, and more sustainable modes of transportation. They also wanted to see greater community engagement and an investment in community that went beyond transportation. Their visions extended to more parks and green space, more affordable living, and the development of local economies. They wanted safer roads, and extended safety to include not just traffic deaths but also police and other forms of state-sanctioned violence and harassment.

Participants desired transportation systems that alleviated the pressures and stress associated with everyday life. As on participant shared, to "be in community, in myself and with others that are like me and not like me," comes down to being "able to do whatever I want without being scared that someone is going to come and say, "You can't use that," or "You can't be here," or call the police on me and my husband." They continued, "It doesn't even seem a reality, and so I don't even know how to picture what that would be... But I would imagine it's joyful, right?" Below are a few cross-cutting themes of their visions for transportation futures that reflected the equity lens they bring to the work.

People-Centric Systems

Interviewees called for more people-centric systems that created vibrant communities, particularly in places that have been devastated by past transportation injustices. One interviewee summed this up well, sharing:

I think my future transportation is people. And I think of people in the broadest sense, young people, old people, people in the variety of neighborhoods that exist. And just having whatever is their preferred mode, being able to afford whatever that is. And being able to get there, get to their destinations at times that are beneficial for them, whether you're a student trying to get to class on time, or a person trying to get to a medical appointment on time.

This resonates with the call for dignity discussed earlier that ran through many interviews and in emerging work (39, 43). They were not thinking of people as users of a particular mode or as defined by the type of trips they were making. Rather, they centered their humanity and held the immense diversity of the human experience. They consciously thought about how their work would impact people different than themselves and welcomed ways to deepen their capacity to empathize with others. They saw transportation as part of a larger, more complex web that could create more livable realities and liberated lives.



Align with other movements

Participants linked their visions of the future of transportation to a vast array of other movements and social issues: workforce development, local economies, food systems, non-extractive practices, climate justice, housing. One participant saw a future in which the transportation sector "shifts the focus" and sees itself as a part of "women's rights and [the] reproductive justice movement... the #MeToo movement... immigrant rights...and all of the sectors that impact people's ability to move." Another participant called for the widespread adoption of universal design concepts, and the need to "keep disability at the forefront" to create a truly inclusive and equitable system. They added that "there's a lot of qualified people in the disability community that should be filling a lot of these roles, whether it's in government or for profit or nonprofit companies that can help spearhead a lot of this work that, for one reason or another, are not in those positions right now." Equitable solutions require true inclusion of historically excluded community members. Partnering with other fields and justice-oriented movements offered rich space to realize greater inclusion.

Interviewees imagined a system free of police and state-sanctioned violence. They saw the connections between poor infrastructure and violence, and sought solutions based in investment, not enforcement. One participant recalled, "Our neighborhood did not have sidewalks. We didn't have safe parks. We had a lot of gang violence. On the other side of town where some of my family lived were really nice homes and really nice sidewalks and parks you could just walk down to and not be worried about playing in." Once they became a transportation professional, they would visit disinvested neighborhoods and wonder, "Hey, this is how my community was growing up too. And yeah, that wasn't right and that wasn't safe, and we should have had more investments and why didn't we?" Transportation professionals who had a lived experience of growing up or living in disinvested communities bring a much-needed lens to their work. This led them to envision nuanced visions of more just transportation futures, as seen in this participant's words:

My vision would be a network that's free from traffic violence where, walking to school isn't death-defying feet. Our families can grow up feeling safe with their kids riding bikes around the neighborhood. We have to talk about policing too, and expanding the definition of safety in a way that includes feeling safe around police...We have to talk about racial profiling and bias policing as well. And having transformative infrastructure. We need to stop freeway expansion and projects that cause harm.

Hiring within communities

They also acknowledged the need to hire people from within impacted communities. They saw transportation planning as a potential economic engine, which could employ people of all ages, from youth to elders in well-paying work. They advocated for hiring local teens and elders who have a unique and important perspective on the built environment. Youth have a knowledge of the hidden geographies of a city that may limit mobility, while elders often have deep historical and social knowledge of a neighborhood. One such program is the "Hood Planners" program organized by People for Mobility Justice, though they are not the only organization utilizing



training and employment to create a future pipeline to interest youth in future careers as transportation planners (71).

Participants also called for greater respect for drivers and front-line workers. This was forefront in their minds given the context of the global pandemic. They expressed concern for the working conditions of drivers and their safety. Of growing concern is the plight of workers in the transportation "gig economy." They worried about the role of rideshare services in exacerbating inequities. They also expressed concern about the working conditions of delivery workers (72). These labor issues were not separate from transportation planning, but an intricate thread of the complex web of creating more sustainable and equitable transportation futures.

New research needed

Participants were also asked about the role of research in their work. Two general trends emerged: the need to make research more applicable to their work and the need for greater value around qualitative research. Many participants experienced alienation from transportation research: "The norms of transportation researchers and the techniques that transportation researchers get taught as part of their education are so foreign to me. I think they are very impenetrable to people who are not taught in that field." This points toward an opportunity to consider how transportation researchers can translate and demystify their research processes. Doing so can create more transparency between researchers and the people their research impacts. This creates space for deeper and more meaningful dialogue between researchers, transportation practitioners, and communities.

Participants voiced a need for broader representation within the research community, specifically those from historically disinvested communities. As one participant said," I don't know if those of us who are historically oppressed have really snatched that tool [research] and been like, "Well, all right, we're going to use your research and even opened our mind to the possibility of what types of research questions you will want to look at and ask and answer."" They also pushed back on research that 'speaks for' a community. They posited, "Instead of you speaking and helping to speak on behalf of us is just have us speak for ourselves and just make space but then move over and have us take up that space." Through this project, we saw how BPOC practitioners are already creating their own spaces for robust dialogue about equity centered in different norms and assumptions than the dominant transportation profession. As one interviewee put it,

Instead of being in other people's spaces and see if we're invited, we're just creating our own tables and we're telling folks to come to our tables. Instead of feeling that we must be invited, I'm like, "No. I need you to come to our table and we'll invite you and we'll facilitate that process, but we don't have the time to see and help people come along to understand what diversity, inclusion and equity means We're just going to do it."

This research report is an invitation to pull up a chair and listen to the knowledgeable transportation equity professionals in our midst.



References

- 1. Bullard, R. D., G. S. Johnson, and A. O. Torres. *Highway Robbery: Transportation Racism* & *New Routes to Equity*. South End Press, 2004.
- 2. Avila, E. *The Folklore of the Freeway Race and Revolt in the Modernist City*. University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, 2014.
- 3. Estrada, G. If You Build It, They Will Move: The Los Angeles Freeway System and the Displacement of Mexican East Los Angeles, 1944-1972. *Southern California Quarterly*, Vol. 87, No. 3, 2005, pp. 287–315. https://doi.org/10.2307/41172272.
- 4. Rosen, M. D., and J. Fisher. Chicano Park and the Chicano Park Murals: Barrio Logan, City of San Diego, California. *The Public Historian*, Vol. 23, No. 4, 2001, pp. 91–111. https://doi.org/10.1525/tph.2001.23.4.91.
- 5. Rothstein, R. The Color of Law: A Forgotten History of How Our Government Segregated America. Liveright, New York London, 2018.
- 6. Boarnet, M. G., R. W. Bostic, S. Rodnyansky, R. Santiago-Bartolomei, D. Williams, and A. Prohofsky. Sustainability and Displacement: Assessing the Spatial Pattern of Residential Moves Near Rail Transit. 2017.
- 7. Hyra, D. The Back-to-the-City Movement: Neighbourhood Redevelopment and Processes of Political and Cultural Displacement. *Urban Studies*, Vol. 52, No. 10, 2015, pp. 1753–1773. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098014539403.
- 8. Brown-Saracino, J. *The Gentrification Debates: A Reader*. Routledge, 2013.
- 9. Sperling, D. Three Revolutions: Steering Automated, Shared, and Electric Vehicles to a Better Future. Island Press, 2018.
- 10. Cohen, S., and C. Cabansagan. A Framework for Equity in New Mobility. 2017.
- 11. Mcclintock, A. Imperial Leather: Race, Gender, and Sexuality in the Colonial Contest. Routledge, 2013.
- 12. Rawls, A. W. "Race" as an Interaction Order Phenomenon: W.E.B. Du Bois's "Double Consciousness" Thesis Revisited. *Sociological Theory*, Vol. 18, No. 2, 2000, pp. 241–274. https://doi.org/10.1111/0735-2751.00097.
- 13. Untokening Collective. *Principles of Mobility Justice 1.0.* 2015.
- 14. Hamraie, A. Building Access: Universal Design and the Politics of Disability. Univ Of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, 2017.
- 15. Costanza-Chock, S. Design Justice: Community-Led Practices to Build the Worlds We Need. MIT Press, 2020.



- 16. Calma, J. America Set up Black Communities to Be Harder Hit by COVID-19. *The Verge*. https://www.theverge.com/2020/4/8/21213974/african-americans-covid-19-coronavirus-race-disparities. Accessed Apr. 8, 2020.
- 17. Camargo, A., E. Hossain, S. Aliko, D. Akinola-Odusola, J. Artus, and I. Kelman. Using an Ecological and Biological Framing for an Anti-Racist Covid-19 Approach. *medRxiv*, 2021,p. 2021.01.24.21250397. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.01.24.21250397.
- 18. Tsai, J. COVID-19 Is Not a Story of Race, but a Record of Racism—Our Scholarship Should Reflect That Reality. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, Vol. 21, No. 2, 2021, pp. 43–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2020.1861377.
- 19. Wenham, C., J. Smith, and R. Morgan. COVID-19: The Gendered Impacts of the Outbreak. *The Lancet*, Vol. 395, No. 10227, 2020, pp. 846–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2.
- 20. Liu, Q., Z. An, Y. Liu, W. Ying, and P. Zhao. Smartphone-Based Services, Perceived Accessibility, and Transport Inequity during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Lagged Panel Study. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 97, 2021, p. 102941. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2021.102941.
- 21. Dey, T., and F. Dominici. COVID-19, Air Pollution, and Racial Inequity: Connecting the Dots. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, Vol. 34, No. 3, 2021, pp. 669–671. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.0c00432.
- 22. Watson, M. F., G. Bacigalupe, M. Daneshpour, W.-J. Han, and R. Parra-Cardona. COVID-19 Interconnectedness: Health Inequity, the Climate Crisis, and Collective Trauma. *Family Process*, Vol. 59, No. 3, 2020, pp. 832–846. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12572.
- 23. Ballard, D., B. Allen, K. Ashcraft, S. Ganesh, P. McLeod, and H. Zoller. When Words Do Not Matter: Identifying Actions to Effect Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in the Academy. *Management Communication Quarterly*, Vol. 34, No. 4, 2020, pp. 590–616. https://doi.org/10.1177/0893318920951643.
- 24. Kraus, M., B. Torrez, and L. Hollie. How Narratives of Racial Progress Create Barriers to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in Organizations. https://psyarxiv.com/k3dmf/.Accessed Aug. 9, 2021.
- 25. Ahmed, S. On Being Included: Racism and Diversity in Institutional Life. Duke University Press, 2012.
- 26. Kalina, P. Performative Allyship Sociology. *Technium Social Sciences Journal*, Vol. 11, 2020, p. [xliv]-481.
- 27. Hesford, W. S. Reading the Signs: Performative White Allyship. *Quarterly Journal of Speech*, Vol. 107, No. 2, 2021, pp. 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/00335630.2021.1915447.



- 28. Erskine, S. E., and D. Bilimoria. White Allyship of Afro-Diasporic Women in the Workplace: A Transformative Strategy for Organizational Change. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, Vol. 26, No. 3, 2019, pp. 319–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051819848993.
- 29. Spanierman, L. B., and L. Smith. Roles and Responsibilities of White Allies: Implications for Research, Teaching, and Practice. *The Counseling Psychologist*, Vol. 45, No. 5, 2017, pp. 606–617. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000017717712.
- 30. Thomas, D. Opinion: Urbanism Is Complicit in Infra-Structural Racism And Reparations Have a Place in the Built Environment. Streetsblog, Jul, 2020.
- 31. Crenshaw, K. Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, Vol. 43, No. 6, 1990, pp. 1241–1300.
- 32. Collins, P. H. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment. Routledge, 2002.
- 33. DiAngelo, R. White Fragility. *The International Journal of Critical Pedagogy*, Vol. 3, No. 3, 2011.
- 34. Lipsitz, G. The Possessive Investment in Whiteness: Racialized Social Democracy and the "White" Problem in American Studies. *American Quarterly*, Vol. 47, No. 3, 1995, pp. 369–387. https://doi.org/10.2307/2713291.
- 35. Ruby, M. Tokenism. Brill, 2020.
- 36. Holgersson, C., and L. Romani. Tokenism Revisited: When Organizational Culture Challenges Masculine Norms, the Experience of Token Is Transformed. *European Management Review*, Vol. 17, No. 3, 2020, pp. 649–661. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12385.
- 37. Yoder, J. Rethinking Tokenism:: Looking Beyond Numbers. *Gender & Society*, Vol. 5, No. 2, 1991, pp. 178–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124391005002003.
- 38. Lugo, A. *Bicycle/Race: Transportation, Culture, & Resistance*. Microcosm Publishing, Portland, OR, 2018.
- 39. Thrivance Project. Thrivance Project. https://thrivancegroup.com. Accessed Aug. 10, 2021.
- 40. Oxas, Rio. People For Mobility Justice VISION INCOMPLETE. *People For Mobility Justice*. https://www.peopleformobilityjustice.org/news/2018/11/8/vision-incomplete. Accessed Aug. 12, 2021.
- 41. Davis, L. P. M. What Is Deficit Thinking? An Analysis of Conceptualizations of Deficit Thinking and Implications for Scholarly Research. *NCID Currents*, Vol. 1, No. 1, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.3998/currents.17387731.0001.110.
- 42. Solorzano, D. G., and T. J. Yosso. From Racial Stereotyping and Deficit Discourse toward a Critical Race Theory in Teacher Education. *Multicultural Education*, Vol. 9, No. 1, 2001, pp. 2–8.



- 43. Juarez, Z. The Movement Towards Mobility Justice In Los Angeles: Building a Framework Grounded in Popular Education & Community Knowledge. 2020.
- 44. Lugo, A. E. CicLAvia and Human Infrastructure in Los Angeles: Ethnographic Experiments in Equitable Bike Planning. *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 30, 2013, pp. 202–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2013.04.010.
- 45. McCullough, S. R., and R. van Stokkum. Answers from the Margins: Participatory Planning with Disadvantaged Communities. 2021. https://doi.org/10.7922/G2RX99DZ.
- 46. Karner, A., and R. A. Marcantonio. Achieving Transportation Equity: Meaningful Public Involvement to Meet the Needs of Underserved Communities. *Public Works Management & Policy*, Vol. 23, No. 2, 2018, pp. 105–126. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087724X17738792.
- 47. Transformative Climate Communities (TCC) Strategic Growth Council. https://sgc.ca.gov/programs/tcc/. Accessed Aug. 10, 2021.
- 48. Kohl-Arenas, E. The Self-Help Myth: How Philanthropy Fails to Alleviate Poverty. Univ of California Press, 2015.
- 49. Kohl-Arenas, E. Governing Poverty Amidst Plenty: Participatory Development and Private Philanthropy. *Geography Compass*, Vol. 5, No. 11, 2011, pp. 811–824. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-8198.2011.00453.x.
- 50. Kohl-Arenas, E., and G. J. Sanchez. 25 Engagement. New York University Press, 2020.
- 51. Fuller, F. Creating a More Equitable Transportation System through Diversity and Inclusion. *Institute for Transportation Engineers Journal*, Vol. 91, No. 5, 2021, pp. 26–29.
- 52. Zavestoski, S., and J. Agyeman, Eds. *Incomplete Streets: Processes, Practices, and Possibilities*. Routledge, London; New York, 2015.
- 53. Thomas, D. 'Safe Streets' Are Not Safe for Black Lives. *CityLab*. https://www.citylab.com/perspective/2020/06/open-streets-transportation-planning-urban-design-racism/612763/. Accessed Jun. 9, 2020.
- 54. Hoffman, M. The Case Against Law Enforcement in Vision Zero. Vision Zero Cities Journal, Oct 10, 2019.
- 55. Abonour, R. Vision Zero's Enforcement Problem: Using Community Engagement to Craft Equitable Traffic Safety Strategies. UCLA, 2018.
- 56. Fedorowicz, M., E. Bramhall, M. Treskon, and R. Ezike. Insights for Medium-Size Cities. *Urban Institute*, p. 51.
- 57. Greenlining Institute. Sustaining Clean Mobility Equity Programs. 2021.
- 58. Cohen, S., and S. Shirazi. Can We Advance Social Equity with Shared, Autonomous and Electric Vehicles? TransForm, 2017.
- 59. Baer, S., and G. Larkin. Mass Transit Policy: Responding to COVID-19. *Journal of Social Change*, Vol. 13, No. 2, 2021. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2021.13.2.02.



- 60. Daley, J. Killings by Police Declined after Black Lives Matter Protests. *Scientific American*. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/killings-by-police-declined-after-black-lives-matter-protests1/. Accessed Mar. 1, 2021.
- 61. Brown, C. Arrested Mobility: Exploring the Adverse Social, Political, Economic & Health Outcomes of Over-Policing Black Mobility in the U.S. Sep 18, 2020.
- 62. Conner, M. Traffic Justice: Achieving Effective and Equitable Traffic Enforcement in the Age of Vision Zero. *Fordham Urban Law Journal*, Vol. 44(4), pp. 969–1004.
- 63. Lipsitz, G. The Racialization of Space and the Spatialization of Race: Theorizing the Hidden Architecture of Landscape. *Landscape Journal*, Vol. 26.1, 2007, pp. 10–23.
- 64. Hetey, R. C., B. Monin, A. Maitreyi, and J. L. Eberhardt. Data for Change: A Statistical Analysis of Police Stops, Searches, Handcuffings, and Arrests in Oakland, Calif., 2013-2014. 2016.
- 65. Novak, K. J., and M. B. Chamlin. Racial Threat, Suspicion, and Police Behavior: The Impact of Race and Place in Traffic Enforcement. *Crime & Delinquency*, Vol. 58, No. 2, 2012, pp. 275–300. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128708322943.
- 66. Roh, S., and M. Robinson. A Geographic Approach to Racial Profiling: The Microanalysis and Macroanalysis of Racial Disparity in Traffic Stops. *Police Quarterly*, Vol. 12, No. 2, 2009, pp. 137–169. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098611109332422.
- 67. Warren, P., Tomaskovic-Devey, D., Smith, W., Zingraff, M., & Mason, M. Driving While Black: Bias Processes And Racial Disparity In Police Stops. Criminology, Criminology, Vol. 44(3), pp. 709–738.
- 68. Wisniewski, M. "Biking While Black": Chicago Minority Areas See the Most Bike Tickets. *chicagotribune.com*, Mar 17, 2017.
- 69. Sarode, A. L., V. P. Ho, L. Chen, K. C. Bachman, P. A. Linden, A. M. Lasinski, M. L. Moorman, and C. W. Towe. Traffic Stops Do Not Prevent Traffic Deaths. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, Vol. 91, No. 1, 2021, pp. 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0000000000003163.
- 70. Alvarado, A. *The Racial Equity Implications of Road Safety Enforcement in Oakland, CA*. Institute for Transportation Studies, Berkeley, CA, 2021.
- 71. Hood Planners Certification Program. *People For Mobility Justice*. https://www.peopleformobilityjustice.org/news. Accessed Aug. 12,2021.
- 72. Lee, D. J., H. Ho, M. Banks, M. Giampieri, X. Chen, and D. Le. Delivering (In)Justice: Food Delivery Cyclists in New York City. In *Bicycle Justice and Urban Transformation: Biking for All?*, Routledge, New York, pp. 114–129.



Data Management Plan

Products of Research

28 interviews were recorded, transcribed, and coded.

Data Format and Content

Interviews are transcribed and anonymized. They are saved as .rtf files.

Data Access and Sharing

Those interested in accessing the data should contact the project PI.

Reuse and Redistribution

Data can be reused with permission of the PI.



Appendix A: Interview Script

Thank you for making the time to talk with me. I'll be recording this interview. If at any point, you do not wish to answer a question or you want to discontinue the interview, you are free to do so. I'll be asking you some demographic questions, followed by questions about your professional history and your experience in equity and diversity projects for transportation and related projects.

I'll start out by asking you some demographic questions. If you do not wish to answer any of these questions, that is fine. We're asking so that we can show identity sensitivity in the results.

- 1. How would you identify your gender? What are your pronouns?
- 2. How would you identify your race and ethnicity?
- 3. How old are you?
- 4. Are there any other aspects of your identity that you wish to share with me?

Now, I'll ask you some questions about your professional experiences and recent projects in which you have participated. We believe that personal experiences shape the way we do our work, and that a person's lived experience in relation to communities of color can provide a specific expertise with this work. We understand that you are in a unique position to help us assess these initiatives to help determine if they are successfully promoting what they are saying they will promote.

- 1. How are you involved in the planning or implementation of active and sustainable transportation projects?
 - a. How does this work emphasize biking, shared mobility, automated vehicles, or electrification?
- 2. How do you define equity?
- 3. How are you directly involved in any diversity or equity and inclusion initiatives?
 - a. Can you describe the goals of the initiatives and your involvement?
- 4. What communities do you serve, **OR** who are your major stakeholders?
- Tell me about your career trajectory and involvement in transportation equity.
 - a. Is this what you saw yourself doing growing up or during your schooling?
 - b. What prepared you most for this work?
 - c. Why did you become involved in projects relating to transportation equity?

Thanks for telling me about your professional background. Now, I'd like to ask you some questions about changing technologies, new mobilities and research.

- 1. How are you or your organization interfacing with changing technologies and 'new mobilities'? (New mobilities include bikeshare, ride hailing TNCs/app-based, scooters, transit, bus/transit system improvements, street planning/smart cities, freight if it comes up?)
 - a. What shifts have you seen since the onset of the pandemic?
- 2. Do you feel that these new technologies can address equity issues in our cities?



- a. How do you see the field of active and sustainable transportation addressing equity issues that may arise from the adoption of new mobilities?
- 3. Do you feel that current research addresses the equity and diversity strategies or needs that you are focused on?
 - a. What kind of research do you feel is needed?
 - b. How has research impacted your practice?

Now I'll be asking you about sustainable and active transportation and equity and inclusion initiatives. I want to define how we use the term equity in our research. At the Feminist Research Institute, our definition of equity includes diversity, inclusion, and justice work. And, while we are speaking, I want to clarify that we are asking about your understanding of the field of diversity and equity in transportation as a whole, not just your specific organization.

- 1. How has your work shifted in response to the multiple pandemics?
- 2. How has this changed the status or reception of your work?
- 3. Can you give me an example of an equity focused project that you were involved with that was successful?
 - a. How did you determine that the project was successful?
- 4. Can you give me an example of an equity focused project that you were involved with that was not successful?
 - a. What prevented success? What were the challenges?
- 5. How integrated are diversity/equity/inclusion efforts into the field of sustainable and active transportation?
 - a. What specific resources are being targeted to support these initiatives? What do they look like? (funding pots, offices, employees, research teams, etc.)
 - b. What are the impacts?
 - c. How have you seen the profession change regarding the recruitment and retention of experts in the field of diversity and inclusion?
- 6. What is your vision of what feels possible to you now? Does this feel different than what felt possible before?

Closing

Thank you very much for taking some time to speak with me today, I really appreciate and value your input. After we complete our interviews, we will reach out to you with our transcript to ensure that we accurately captured your perspective. The goal of this project is to compile it into a report and research paper that can be utilized by transportation professionals and researchers.

- 1. Is there anyone else you recommend I speak with?
- 2. Are there any other final comments you would like to share before we wrap up?

Thank you!

